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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of 
RGA Global Reinsurance Company, Ltd.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of RGA Global Reinsurance Company, Ltd. (the 
“Company”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related 
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholder’s equity, and cash flows for the 
years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements (collectively referred to as the 
“financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Other Matter 

Results of the Company may not be indicative of those of a stand-alone entity, as the Company is a 
member of a controlled group of affiliated companies. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this 
matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

 

April 21, 2025 



December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023

Assets
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale at fair value (amortized cost of $6,840,207 and $2,747,503;
allowance for credit losses of $9,637 and $13,929) $ 6,686,366 $ 2,667,331 
Equity securities, at fair value  1,854  1,871 
Funds withheld at interest  34,618  44,834 
Short-term investments  63,019  42,445 
Derivatives  4,472  14,375 
         Total investments  6,790,329  2,770,856 
Cash and cash equivalents  237,068  199,299 
Accrued investment income  54,405  20,404 
Premiums receivable  592,962  486,535 
Reinsurance ceded receivables  4,187,490  1,531,190 
Deferred policy acquisition costs  62,397  60,049 
Deferred tax asset  24,287  14,457 
Other reinsurance balances  26,368  — 
Receivable from parent and affiliates  2,501  3,373 
Other assets  4,811  16,692 
         Total assets $ 11,982,618 $ 5,102,855 
Liabilities and shareholder's equity
Future policy benefits $ 6,599,003 $ 2,213,975 
Interest-sensitive contract liabilities  849,129  1,096,651 
Other policy claims and benefits  448,093  349,088 
Other reinsurance balances  128,514  120,735 
Securities lending obligation  —  101,002 
Payable to parent and affiliates  13,845  5,241 
Derivative liabilities  153,598  50,523 
Funds withheld payable  3,281,750  549,716 
Other liabilities  30,204  24,978 
         Total liabilities  11,504,136  4,511,909 
Commitments and Contingencies (See Note 13)
Shareholder's equity:

Common stock (par value $1.00 per share; 500,000 shares authorized; 
shares issued: 500,000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023)  500  500 

     Additional paid-in-capital  122,209  122,018 
     Retained earnings  320,228  392,033 
     Accumulated other comprehensive income  35,545  76,395 
         Total shareholder's equity  478,482  590,946 
         Total liabilities and shareholder's equity $ 11,982,618 $ 5,102,855 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

                         RGA GLOBAL REINSURANCE COMPANY, LTD.
                              BALANCE SHEETS

                                (in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)
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                   RGA GLOBAL REINSURANCE COMPANY, LTD.
             STATEMENTS OF INCOME
               (in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended December 31,
2024 2023

Revenues
Net premiums $ 710,602 $ 418,943 
Net investment income  36,339  74,197 
Investment related losses, net  (144,368)  (118,905) 
Other revenues (expenses)  42,184  120,481 
   Total revenues  644,757  494,716 

Benefits and expenses
Claims and other policy benefits  625,561  382,148 
Future policy benefits remeasurement losses  4,487  84,828 
Interest credited  (24,482)  (2,432) 
Policy acquisition costs and other insurance expenses  47,863  (6,550) 
Other operating expenses  56,631  47,877 
   Total benefits and expenses  710,060  505,871 

Loss before income taxes  (65,303)  (11,155) 
   Provision for income taxes  6,502  (18,457) 

Net income (loss) $ (71,805) $ 7,302 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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                                 RGA GLOBAL REINSURANCE COMPANY, LTD.
                                STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

                                        (in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended December 31,
2024 2023

Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income (loss) $ (71,805) $ 7,302 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments  (8,216)  5,795 

 Net unrealized investment gains (losses)  (163,761)  70,861 
Effect of updating discount rates on future policy benefits  131,127  95,763 

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax  (40,850)  172,419 
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ (112,655) $ 179,721 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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           RGA GLOBAL REINSURANCE COMPANY, LTD.
                  STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

                                                          (in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Common Stock
Additional Paid-

in-Capital
Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholder's

Equity
Balance, January 1, 2023 $ 500 $ 122,457 $ 384,731 $ (96,024) $ 411,664 
   Net income  —  —  7,302  —  7,302 

Total other comprehensive income  —  —  —  172,419  172,419 
Equity based compensation  —  61  —  —  61 
Dissolution of representative company  —  (500)  —  —  (500) 

Balance, December 31, 2023  500  122,018  392,033  76,395  590,946 
Net loss  —  —  (71,805)  —  (71,805) 
Total other comprehensive loss  —  —  —  (40,850)  (40,850) 
Equity based compensation  —  191  —  —  191 

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 500 $ 122,209 $ 320,228 $ 35,545 $ 478,482 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Table of Contents

6



RGA GLOBAL REINSURANCE COMPANY, LTD.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended December 31,
2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ (71,805) $ 7,302 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
   Accrued investment income  (36,609)  (6,269) 
   Premiums receivable and other reinsurance balances  (127,049)  (88,060) 
   Reinsurance ceded receivables  366,201  (412,962) 
   Deferred policy acquisition costs  (3,843)  (9,866) 
   Future policy benefits, other policy claims and benefits, and other reinsurance balances  4,779,393  1,803,465 
   Deferred income taxes  (9,531)  (14,639) 
   Funds withheld payable  (94,812)  — 
   Receivable from/payable to parent and affiliates  37,659  15,195 
   Other assets and other liabilities, net  (14,176)  8,917 

Amortization of net investment premiums, discounts and other  (13,564)  (2,578) 
Depreciation and amortization expense  465  520 
Investment related losses, net  144,368  118,905 
Other, net  (32,860)  (56,343) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  4,923,837  1,363,587 
Cash flows from investing activities
Sales of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale  2,800,177  653,533 
Maturities of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale  102,893  8,788 
Purchases of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale  (7,358,356)  (1,946,342) 
Deposits in (withdrawals from) funds withheld at interest  10,216  (86,593) 
Change in short-term investments  (24,287)  26,388 
Change in derivatives  (22,538)  11,855 

Net cash used in investing activities  (4,491,895)  (1,332,371) 
Cash flows from financing activities
Change in securities lending obligation  (101,002)  101,002 
Dissolution of representative company  —  (500) 
Change in cash collateral for derivative positions and other arrangements  (11,330)  97,510 
Deposits on investment-type policies and contracts  43,171  179,683 
Withdrawals on investment-type policies and contracts  (256,324)  (415,145) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (325,485)  (37,450) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  (68,688)  (15,169) 
Change in cash and cash equivalents  37,769  (21,403) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  199,299  220,702 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 237,068 $ 199,299 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 6,163 $ 2,583 

Non-cash investing activities:
Transfer of invested assets $ 107,920 $ — 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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RGA Global Reinsurance Company, Ltd.
Notes to financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
(in U.S. dollars)

Note 1  BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Business

RGA Global Reinsurance Company, Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 
1981 on December 14, 2005, and is registered as a Class E insurer under the Insurance Act 1978 as amended and related 
regulations. In 2016, Reinsurance Group of America, Incorporated ("RGA"), a United States of America ("U.S.") insurance 
holding company formed on December 31, 1992, contributed to RGA Reinsurance Company (Barbados) Ltd. ("RGA Barbados") 
all of the outstanding shares of the Company. RGA Barbados was incorporated under the laws of Barbados on June 27, 1995 
and is a wholly owned subsidiary of RGA. As of December 31, 2024, all outstanding shares of the Company were owned by RGA 
Barbados.

The Company maintains branch licenses in Taiwan and Labuan, Malaysia and their results are included in these financial 
statements. In 2023 the Company dissolved its representative office in Brazil. 

The Company received authorization to operate a retakaful window in Labuan, Malaysia effective September 30, 2009. The 
retakaful window authorizes the Company to provide retakaful services to takaful operators. Takaful operators are entities that 
apply Islamic finance accounting ("Shariah"), that provide benefits to pools of participants for the purpose of sharing risk, which is 
similar to the principles of mutual insurance. Retakaful benefits can be provided under various models and a Shariah Advisory 
Council has been appointed to oversee the Company's retakaful operations. The Company began writing retakaful business in 
2011.

The Company engages in providing traditional reinsurance, which includes individual and group life and health, disability, and 
critical illness reinsurance. The Company also provides financial solutions, which includes longevity reinsurance, reinsurance of 
asset-intensive products, primary annuities, financial reinsurance and capital solutions.

Reinsurance is an arrangement under which an insurance company, the reinsurer, agrees to indemnify another insurance 
company, the ceding company, for all or a portion of the insurance risks underwritten by the ceding company. Reinsurance is 
designed to: 

(i) reduce the net amount at risk on individual risks, thereby enabling the ceding company to increase the volume of 
business it can underwrite, as well as increase the maximum risk it can underwrite on a single risk;

(ii) enhance the ceding company's financial strength and surplus position;

(iii) stabilize operating results by leveling fluctuations in the ceding company's loss experience; and

(iv) assist the ceding company in meeting applicable regulatory requirements.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most 
significant estimates include those used in determining the following: 

• Premiums receivable;

• Future policy benefits and incurred but not reported claims; 

• Income taxes;

• Valuation of investments, investment allowance for credit losses and investment impairments.

Actual results could differ materially from the estimates and assumptions used by management.

A portion of the Company's reinsurance receivables and policy liabilities are associated with affiliated companies, and the 
Company relies on affiliated companies for services. See Note 12 - "Related-Party Transactions" for further details.

There were no subsequent events that would require disclosure or adjustments to the accompanying financial statements 
through the date the financial statements were issued.
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Note 2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRONOUNCEMENTS

Insurance Related Activities

Premium and Fee Revenue and Receivable Recognition

Premium and Fee Revenue

Life and health premiums are recognized as revenue when due from the insured and are reported net of amounts retroceded. 
Benefits and expenses are reported net of amounts retroceded and are associated with earned premiums so that profits are 
recognized over the life of the related contract. This association is accomplished through the provision for future policy benefits 
and the amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs ("DAC"). Other revenue includes items such as certain treaty recapture 
fees related to short-duration products, fees associated with financial reinsurance and policy changes on interest-sensitive and 
investment-type products that the Company reinsures. Any fees that are collected in advance of the period benefited are 
deferred and recognized over the period benefited.

The Company reinsures medical, disability, life and other products for a fixed period of short-duration, typically one to three 
years.  Premiums for short-duration products are recognized over the coverage period in proportion to the amount of insurance 
protection provided.

For certain reinsurance transactions involving the reinsurance of in force blocks of business, the ceding company pays a 
premium equal to the initial required reserve (future policy benefit). In such transactions, for income statement presentation, the 
Company nets the expense associated with the establishment of the reserve against the premiums from the transaction.

Revenues for interest-sensitive and investment-type products consist of investment income, policy charges for the cost of 
insurance, policy administration, and surrender charges that have been assessed against policy account balances during the 
period. Interest-sensitive contract liabilities for these products represent policy account balances before applicable surrender 
charges. Policy benefits and claims that are charged to expenses include claims incurred in the period in excess of related policy 
account balances and interest credited to policy account balances. Interest is credited to policyholder account balances 
according to terms of the policies or contracts.

For each of its reinsurance contracts, the Company must determine if the contract provides indemnification against loss or 
liability relating to insurance risk, in accordance with GAAP. The Company must review all contractual features, particularly those 
that may limit the amount of insurance risk to which the Company is subject or features that delay the timely reimbursement of 
claims. If the Company determines that a contract does not expose it to a reasonable possibility of a significant loss from 
insurance risk, the Company records the contract on a deposit method of accounting with any net amount receivable reflected as 
an asset within other reinsurance balances, and any net amount payable reflected as a liability within other reinsurance 
balances. Fees earned on the contracts are reflected as other revenues, rather than premiums.

Premiums Receivable

Premiums are accrued when due and in accordance with information received from the ceding company. When the Company 
enters into a new reinsurance agreement, it accrues premium based on the terms of the reinsurance treaty. Similarly, when a 
ceding company fails to report information on a timely basis, the Company records accruals based on the terms of the 
reinsurance treaty as well as historical experience. Other management estimates include adjustments for increased in force on 
existing treaties, lapsed premiums given historical experience, the financial health of specific ceding companies, collateral value 
and the legal right of offset on related amounts (i.e. allowances and claims) owed to the ceding company. Under the legal right of 
offset provisions in its reinsurance treaties, the Company can withhold payments for allowances and claims from unpaid 
premiums. Based on its review of these factors and historical experience, the Company did not believe a provision for doubtful 
accounts was necessary as of December 31, 2024 or 2023.

Future Policy Benefits

Utilizing the net premium model, a liability for future policy benefits for life and long-term health business is established to meet 
the estimated future benefits to be paid on assumed life and health reinsurance in force less the present value of estimated 
future new premiums to be collected. The liability is estimated using the Company’s mortality, morbidity, and persistency 
assumptions that reflect the Company’s historical experience, industry data, cedant specific experience, and discount rates 
based on the current yields of upper-medium grade fixed income instruments. These assumptions vary with the characteristics of 
the reinsurance contract, the year the risk was assumed, age of the insured and other appropriate factors. The Company reviews 
actual and anticipated experience compared to the assumptions used to establish policy benefits on a quarterly basis and will 
update those assumptions if evidence suggests that they should be revised. The Company completed its annual review and any 
necessary updates of cash flow assumptions used to calculate the liability for future policy benefits during the third quarter of 
2024 and 2023. Updates may occur in other quarters if information becomes available during the quarter that indicates an 
assumption update is necessary. 

Liabilities for future benefits for annuities in the payout phase have been established in an amount adequate to meet the 
estimated future obligations on policies in force using expected mortality, discount rates and other assumptions. These 
assumptions vary with the characteristics of the plan of insurance, year of issue, age of insured, and other appropriate factors. 
The mortality assumptions are based on the Company’s historical experience, industry data and cedant specific experience.
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A deferred profit liability ("DPL") is established when the insurance benefit extends beyond the period in which premiums are 
collected, and the gross premium exceeds the net premium. The DPL is amortized in proportion to insurance in force for 
traditional life insurance and expected future benefits for annuity contracts. The DPL is included in the liabilities for future policy 
benefits, and the amortization of the DPL is recognized as a reduction in claims and other policy benefits.

For the purpose of calculating the liability for future policy benefits, the Company’s reinsurance contracts for its traditional 
business are grouped into annual cohorts based on the effective date of the reinsurance contract. The annual groupings are 
further disaggregated based on:

• How the reinsurance contracts are priced and managed;

• Geographical locations;

• Underlying currency of the contract;

• Ceding company and other factors.

Given the unique risks and highly customized nature of the Company's financial solutions business, reinsurance contracts for the 
financial solutions business are not aggregated with other contracts for the purpose of calculating the liability for future policy 
benefits.

Each quarter, the Company updates its estimate of cash flows expected over the entire life of a group of contracts using actual 
historical experience and current future cash flow assumptions. These updated cash flows, discounted using the original contract 
issuance discount rates, are used to calculate the revised net premium ratio, as of the beginning of the current reporting period. 
The present value of these updated cash flows is compared to the carrying amount of the liability as of that same date, before 
updating cash flow assumptions, to determine the current period change in the liability’s estimate. This current period change in 
the liability is a component of the liability remeasurement gain or loss. In subsequent periods, the revised net premium ratio is 
used to measure the liability for future policy benefits, subject to future revisions. The Company also reviews actual and 
anticipated experience compared to the assumptions used to establish the liability for future policy benefits on a quarterly basis.  
If evidence suggests that the assumptions should be revised, the cumulative effect of the change is reflected in future policy 
benefits remeasurement (gains) losses in the current period. The Company has elected to lock-in claims expense assumptions 
at contract inception and those assumptions are not subsequently reviewed or updated.

The discount rates used to measure the liability are based on upper-medium grade fixed-income instruments (A rated credit) with 
similar tenor to the expected liability cash flows. The discount rate assumption is updated quarterly and used to remeasure the 
liability at the reporting date, with the resulting change reflected in other comprehensive income (loss) ("OCI"). For unobservable 
discount rates, the Company uses estimates consistent with fair value guidance, maximizing the use of relevant, observable 
market prices and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

The Company utilizes the discount rate curve at contract inception for purposes of interest accretion and updating the net 
premium ratio. Interest accretion is recognized in claims and other policy benefits on the statements of income. The locked-in 
discount curve at contract inception for contracts entered into after January 1, 2021, is based on the average upper-medium 
grade fixed-income instrument yields during the first calendar year of the reinsurance contract. The locked-in discount rates at 
contract inception for contracts that were effective prior to January 1, 2021, are based on estimates of expected investment 
yields. 

Included in the liability for future policy benefits are unpaid claims related to long-duration contracts and an accrual for incurred 
but not reported losses ("IBNR"). The Company’s IBNR accrual related to long-duration contracts is determined using case-basis 
estimates and lag studies of past experience. The time lag from the date of the claim or death to when the ceding company 
reports the claim to the Company can vary significantly by ceding company, business segment and product type. IBNR estimates 
are on an undiscounted basis, using actuarial estimates of historical claims expense, adjusted for current trends and conditions. 
These estimates are continually reviewed, and the ultimate liability may vary significantly from the amount recognized. 

Interest-Sensitive Contract Liabilities

Liabilities for future benefits on interest-sensitive life and investment-type contract liabilities are carried at the accumulated 
contract holder values without reduction for potential surrender or withdrawal charges. The Company reinsures asset-intensive 
products, including annuities. The liabilities under asset-intensive insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts reinsured on a 
coinsurance basis are included in interest-sensitive contract liabilities on the balance sheets. Asset-intensive contracts principally 
include individual fixed annuities in the accumulation phase, individual variable annuities, and group fixed annuities. Interest-
sensitive contract liabilities are equal to (i) policy account values, which consist of an accumulation of gross premium payments; 
(ii) credited interest less expenses, mortality charges, and withdrawals; and (iii) fair value adjustments relating to business 
combinations. Liabilities for immediate annuities are calculated as the present value of the expected cash flows, with the locked-
in discount rate determined such that there is no gain or loss at inception. 

The Company reviews its estimates of actuarial liabilities for interest-sensitive contract liabilities and compares them with its 
actual experience. Differences between actual experience and the assumptions used in pricing these guarantees and benefits 
and in the establishment of the related liabilities result in variances in profit and could result in losses. The effects of changes in 
such estimated liabilities are included in the results of operations in the period in which the changes occur. 
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Unpaid Claims and Claim Expense – Short-Duration Contracts

The Company provides reinsurance of medical, disability, life and other products for a fixed period of short-duration, typically one 
to three years. Under the short-duration insurance accounting model, claims or benefits are recognized when insured events 
occur, based on the ultimate cost to settle the claim, and are adjusted to reflect changes in estimates during the life of the 
contract. The estimated cost to settle the claim is based on actuarial assumptions for similar claims. The Company also 
establishes an IBNR liability based on historical reporting patterns.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Costs of acquiring new business, which vary with and are directly related to the production of new business, have been deferred 
to the extent that such costs are deemed recoverable from future premiums or gross profits. Such costs include commissions 
and allowances as well as certain costs of policy issuance and underwriting. Non-commission costs related to the acquisition of 
new and renewal insurance contracts may be deferred only if they meet the following criteria:

• Incremental direct costs of a successful contract acquisition

• Portions of employees' salaries and benefits directly related to time spent performing specified acquisition activities for a 
contract that has been acquired or renewed

• Other costs directly related to the specified acquisition or renewal activities that would not have been incurred had that 
acquisition contract transaction not occurred

DAC related to traditional life and interest-sensitive contracts are grouped by contract type and issue year into cohorts for 
consistency with the groupings used in estimating the associated liability. DAC is amortized on a constant level basis for the 
grouped contracts over the expected term of the related contracts to approximate straight-line amortization. The constant level 
basis used is based on the number of policies or policy face amount of the risk assumed in the reinsurance contract. The 
constant level bases used for amortization are projected using mortality and actuarial assumptions for policyholder behavior that 
are based on the Company’s experience, industry data and other factors and are consistent with those used for the liability for 
future policy benefits. Changes in assumptions are reflected in DAC amortization prospectively, and actual experience relating to 
the number of policies reinsured will likely differ from the experience previously estimated. 

Eligible DAC related to short-duration contracts are capitalized and amortized in proportion to premium.  

Amortization of DAC is included in policy acquisition costs and other insurance expenses.

Reinsurance Ceded Receivables

The Company generally reports retrocession activity on a gross basis. Amounts paid or deemed to have been paid for 
reinsurance are reflected in reinsurance ceded receivables. Reinsurance ceded receivables related to long-duration contracts 
are estimated using mortality, morbidity and persistency assumptions that are similar to the liability for future policy benefits 
ceded. The discount rate used to measure the ceded receivable is based on the current yields of an upper-medium grade fixed 
income instrument. Similar to the liability for future policy benefits, ceded receivables for traditional business are grouped into 
annual cohorts based on the effective date of the reinsurance contract. Given the unique risks and highly customizable nature of 
the financial solutions business they are not aggregated with other reinsurance contracts for the purposes of calculating the 
ceded receivable. 

Investments

Fixed Maturity Securities

Fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair value and are so classified based upon the possibility 
that such securities could be sold prior to maturity if that action enables the Company to execute its investment philosophy and 
appropriately match investment results to operating and liquidity needs.

Unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale, less applicable deferred income taxes, 
are recorded in OCI.

Investment income is recognized as it accrues or is legally due. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments are included 
in investment related losses, net, as are changes in allowance for credit losses and impairments. The cost of investments sold is 
primarily determined based upon the specific identification method.

Equity Securities

Equity securities are carried at fair value and realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in investment related losses, 
net.

Funds Withheld at Interest

Funds withheld at interest represent amounts contractually withheld by ceding companies in accordance with reinsurance 
agreements. For agreements written on a modified coinsurance ("modco") basis and agreements written on a coinsurance funds 
withheld basis, assets that support the transactions are defined in the treaty, and are withheld and legally owned by the ceding 
company. Interest, recorded in net investment income, accrues to these assets at calculated rates as defined by the treaty terms. 
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Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments represent investments with remaining maturities of one year or less, but greater than three months, at 
the time of acquisition and are stated at estimated fair value or amortized cost, which approximates estimated fair value. Interest 
on short-term investments is recorded in net investment income.

Securities Lending and Repurchase Agreements

In 2023, the Company participated in a securities lending program whereby securities, reflected as investments on the 
Company's balance sheets, were loaned to an affiliated party. The collateral consisted of rights to reinsurance treaty cash flows. 
As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any active securities lending transactions.

In 2023, the Company participated in a repurchase program whereby securities, reflected as investments on the Company's 
balance sheets were sold to a third party. Under this agreement, the Company received cash, with a simultaneous agreement to 
repurchase such securities at a future date or, on demand, in an amount equal to the cash initially received plus interest. The 
Company monitored the ratio of the cash held to the estimated fair value of the securities sold throughout the duration of the 
transaction and additional cash or securities were provided or obtained as necessary. Securities sold under such transactions 
may be sold or re-pledged by the transferee. The obligation to repurchase bonds was reflected in other liabilities. As of 
December 31, 2024, the Company does not have any active repurchase agreements.

Allowance for Credit Losses and Impairments

Fixed Maturity Securities

The Company identifies fixed maturity securities that could result in a credit loss by monitoring market events that could impact 
issuers' credit ratings, business climates, management changes, litigation, government actions and other similar factors. The 
Company also monitors late payments, pricing levels, rating agency actions, key financial ratios, financial statements, revenue 
forecasts and cash flow projections as indicators of credit issues.

The Company reviews all securities to determine whether a decline in fair value below amortized cost has resulted from a credit 
loss and whether an allowance for credit loss should be recognized. In making this determination, the Company considers 
relevant facts and circumstances including: (1) the reasons for the decline in fair value; (2) the issuer's financial position and 
access to capital; and (3) the Company's intent to sell a security or whether it is more likely than not it will be required to sell the 
security before the recovery of its amortized cost that, in some cases, may extend to maturity.

If the Company intends to sell a security or it is more likely than not that it would be required to sell a security before the recovery 
of its amortized cost, less any recorded credit loss, it recognizes an impairment loss in investment related losses, net for the 
difference between amortized cost and fair value.

Credit impairments and changes in the allowance for credit losses on fixed maturity securities are reflected in investment related 
losses, net, while non-credit impairment losses are recognized in OCI. 

The Company estimates the amount of the credit loss component of a fixed maturity security impairment as the difference 
between amortized cost and the present value of the expected cash flows of the security. The Company excludes accrued 
interest from the amortized cost and the present value of the expected cash flows of the security. The present value is 
determined using the best estimate cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate implicit to the security at the date of 
purchase or the current yield to accrete an asset-backed or floating rate security. The techniques and assumptions for 
establishing the best estimate cash flows vary depending on the type of security. The asset-backed securities’ cash flow 
estimates are based on security-specific facts and circumstances that may include collateral characteristics, expectations of 
delinquency and default rates, loss severity and prepayment speeds and structural support, including subordination and 
guarantees. 

The Company writes off uncollectible fixed maturity securities when (1) it has sufficient information to determine that the issuer of 
the security is insolvent or (2) it has received notice that the issuer of the security has filed for bankruptcy, and the collectability of 
the asset is expected to be adversely impacted by the bankruptcy.

Derivative Instruments 

Overview 

The Company utilizes a variety of derivative instruments including swaps and forwards, primarily to manage or hedge foreign 
currency risk and various other market risks associated with its business. The Company does not invest in derivatives for 
speculative purposes. It is the Company's policy to enter into derivative contracts primarily with highly rated parties. See Note 8 - 
"Derivative Instruments" for additional detail on the Company's derivative positions. 

Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation of Derivatives

Derivatives are carried on the Company's balance sheets primarily in derivatives and derivative liabilities, at fair value. Certain 
derivatives are subject to master netting provisions and reported as a net asset or liability. On the date a derivative contract is 
executed, the Company designates the derivative as (1) a cash flow hedge, (2) a net investment hedge in a foreign operation or 
(3) free standing derivatives held for other risk management purposes, which primarily involve managing asset or liability risks 
associated with the Company's reinsurance treaties that do not qualify for hedge accounting.
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Changes in the fair value of free standing derivative instruments, which do not receive accounting hedge treatment, are primarily 
reflected in investment related losses, net. 

Hedge Documentation and Hedge Effectiveness

To qualify for hedge accounting, at the inception of the hedging relationship, the Company formally documents its risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedging transaction, as well as its designation of the hedge as either (i) a 
cash flow hedge or (ii) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation ("NIFO"). In this documentation, the Company sets 
forth how the hedging instrument is expected to hedge the designated risks related to the hedged item and sets forth the method 
that will be used to retrospectively and prospectively assess the hedging instrument's effectiveness. A derivative designated as a 
hedging instrument must be assessed as being highly effective in offsetting the designated risk of the hedged item. Hedge 
effectiveness is formally assessed at inception and periodically throughout the life of the designated hedging relationship.

Under a cash flow hedge, changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative measured as effective are reported within 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI") and the deferred gains or losses on the derivative are reclassified into 
the statements of income when the Company's earnings are affected by the variability in cash flows of the hedged item. The fair 
values of the hedging derivatives are exclusive of any accruals that are separately reported within net investment income or 
other operating expenses, if applicable, to match the location of the hedged item.

In a NIFO hedge, changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative that are measured as effective are reported within AOCI 
consistent with the translation adjustment for the hedged net investment in the foreign operation.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when: (i) it is determined that the derivative is no longer highly 
effective in offsetting changes in the estimated cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the derivative expires, is sold, terminated, or 
exercised; (iii) it is no longer probable that the hedged forecasted transaction will occur; or (iv) the derivative is de-designated as 
a hedging instrument.

When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is determined that the derivative is not highly effective, the derivative 
continues to be carried in the balance sheets at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in investment related losses, 
net. Provided the hedged forecasted transaction occurrence is still probable, the changes in estimated fair value of derivatives 
recorded in OCI related to discontinued cash flow hedges are released into the statements of income when the Company's 
earnings are affected by the variability in cash flows of the hedged item.

When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is no longer probable that the forecasted transactions will occur on the 
anticipated date or within two months of that date, the derivative continues to be carried in the balance sheets at its estimated fair 
value, with changes in estimated fair value recognized currently in investment related losses, net. Deferred gains and losses of a 
derivative recorded in OCI pursuant to the discontinued cash flow hedge of a forecasted transaction that is no longer probable 
are recognized immediately in investment related losses, net.

In all other situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative is carried at its estimated fair value in the balance 
sheets, with changes in its estimated fair value recognized in the current period as investment related losses, net.

Fair Value Measurements

General accounting principles for Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures define fair value, establish a framework for 
measuring fair value, establish a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to measure fair value and enhance disclosure 
requirements for fair value measurements. In compliance with these principles, the Company has categorized its assets and 
liabilities, based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique, into a three level hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives 
the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1), the second highest priority to 
quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

If the inputs used to measure fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the category level is based on the lowest 
priority level input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the asset or liability.

See Note 9 - "Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities" for further details on the Company's assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for foreign income taxes currently payable, as well as those deferred due to temporary differences 
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts, and are recognized in net income or in certain cases in  
OCI. The Company’s accounting for income taxes represents management’s best estimate of various events and transactions 
considering the laws enacted as of the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying the relevant jurisdictions’ enacted tax rate for the period in which the 
temporary differences are expected to reverse to the temporary difference change for that period.  The Company will establish a 
valuation allowance if management determines, based on available information, that it is more likely than not that deferred 
income tax assets will not be realized.

Significant judgment is required in determining whether valuation allowances should be established as well as the amount of 
such allowances. When making such a determination, consideration is given to, among other things, the following:

(i) taxable income in prior carryback years;
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(ii) future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences;

(iii) future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards; and

(iv) tax planning strategies.

Any such changes could significantly affect the amounts reported in the financial statements in the year these changes occur.

The Company reports uncertain tax positions in accordance with GAAP. In order to recognize the benefit of an uncertain tax 
position, the position must meet the more likely than not criteria of being sustained. Unrecognized tax benefits due to tax 
uncertainties that do not meet the more likely than not criteria are included within income tax liabilities and are expensed in the 
period that such determination is made. The Company classifies interest related to tax uncertainties as interest expense whereas 
penalties related to tax uncertainties are classified as a component of income tax.

See Note 10 - "Income Tax" for further discussion.

Other Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of 
three months or less. 

Other Reinsurance Balances

The Company assumes and retrocedes financial reinsurance contracts that do not expose it to a reasonable possibility of loss 
from insurance risk. These contracts are reported as deposits and are included in other reinsurance balance assets and/or 
liabilities. The amount of revenue reported in other revenues on these contracts represents fees and the cost of insurance under 
the terms of the reinsurance agreement. Assets and liabilities are reported on a net or gross basis, depending on the specific 
details within each treaty. Reinsurance agreements reported on a net basis, where a legal right of offset exists, are generally 
included in other reinsurance balances on the balance sheets. Other reinsurance assets are included in other reinsurance 
balances within total assets, while other reinsurance liabilities are included in other reinsurance balances within total liabilities on 
the balance sheets.

Receivable From/Payable To Parent and Affiliates

Receivable from/payable to parent and affiliates are primarily comprised of non-reinsurance related receivables/payables. See 
Note 12 - "Related-Party Transactions" for further details about transactions with affiliated companies.

Other Assets

Other assets primarily include capitalized assets, prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and investments in transit. Capitalized 
assets are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Carrying values are reviewed at least annually for 
indicators of impairment in value. 

Funds Withheld Payable

Funds withheld payable represents amounts contractually withheld by the Company in accordance with reinsurance agreements. 
For agreements written on a modco basis and agreements written on a coinsurance funds withheld basis, assets that support the 
ceded transactions are defined in the treaty, and are withheld and legally owned by the Company. Interest expense, recorded in 
net investment income, accrues to these assets at calculated rates as defined by the treaty terms.

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities primarily include accounts payable, employee benefits, investments in transit payable, deferred income taxes and 
lease liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets, liabilities and results of foreign operations are recorded based on the functional currency of each foreign operation. The 
determination of the functional currency is based on economic facts and circumstances pertaining to each foreign operation. The 
Company’s material functional currencies are the U.S. dollar, Thai bhat, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese yen, British pound sterling, 
Australian dollar, Korean Won, and Taiwanese dollar.  The translation of the functional currency into U.S. dollars is performed for 
balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts 
using weighted-average exchange rates during each year. Gains or losses, net of applicable deferred income taxes, resulting 
from such translation are included in accumulated currency translation adjustments, in AOCI until the underlying functional 
currency operation is sold or substantially liquidated. 

Equity Based Compensation

The Company expenses the fair value of stock awards included in its incentive compensation plans. The fair value of the award 
is expensed over the performance or service period, which generally corresponds to the vesting period, and is recognized as an 
increase to additional paid-in-capital in shareholder's equity, and stock-based compensation expense is reflected in other 
operating expenses. The Company recognized an immaterial amount of equity compensation expense in 2024 and 2023.
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Note 3  NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Changes to the general accounting principles are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in the form 
of accounting standards updates to the FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM. Accounting standards updates not listed 
below were assessed and determined to be either not applicable or are expected to have minimal impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 

Description
Anticipated Date 

of Adoption Effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements
Standards not yet adopted:
Income Taxes
This standard improves income tax disclosure 
requirements, which requires disaggregated information 
about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation, 
information on income taxes paid and other disclosure 
requirements.  Early adoption is permitted.

December 31, 2025 The adoption of the new standard will be applied 
prospectively. Retrospective application is permitted. The 
adoption of the new standard will expand the Company’s 
disclosures but will have no impact on its results of 
operations or financial position.

NOTE 4  FUTURE POLICY BENEFITS

The Company reviews actual and anticipated experience compared to the assumptions used to establish policy benefits on a 
quarterly basis and will update those assumptions if evidence suggests that they should be revised. It is the Company's policy to 
complete its annual assumption review during the third quarter of each year. However, updates may occur in other quarters if 
information becomes available during the quarter that indicates an assumption update is necessary.

Traditional Business

Significant assumptions used to compute the liability for future policy benefits for the traditional business include mortality, 
morbidity, lapse rates and discount rates (both accretion and current). During 2024 and 2023, the Company completed its annual 
assumption review resulting in a $1.8 million increase and a $4.5 million decrease, in the Company's liability for future policy 
benefits for its traditional business during 2024 and 2023, respectively. The increase and decrease in the liability in 2024 and 
2023, respectively, were primarily the result of updating the mortality and lapse assumptions used to measure the liability for 
future policy benefits. The Company also updated the underlying market data used to determine the current discount rate 
resulting in changes to the discount rate assumption used to measure the net liability for future policy benefits.
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The following tables provide the balances of and changes in the Company's liability for future policy benefits for long-duration 
reinsurance contracts for its traditional business, which primarily consists of individual life, group life and critical illness 
reinsurance for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Present Value of Expected Net Premiums
Beginning of year balance at original discount rate $ 6,983,294 $ 6,294,975 

Effect of changes in cash flow assumptions  81,794  (328,564) 
Effect of actual variances from expected experience  253,143  397,817 

Adjusted balance, beginning of year  7,318,231  6,364,228 
Issuances (1)  975,159  833,336 
Interest accrual (2)  136,506  125,632 
Net premiums collected (3)  (454,783)  (388,376) 
Foreign currency translation  (221,118)  48,474 

Ending balance at original discount rate  7,753,995  6,983,294 
Effect of changes in discount rate assumptions  (3,118,525)  (2,825,603) 

Balance, end of period $ 4,635,470 $ 4,157,691 

Present Value of Expected Future Policy Benefits
Beginning of year balance at original discount rate $ 7,494,579 $ 6,759,921 

Effect of changes in cash flow assumptions  83,623  (333,058) 
Effect of actual variances from expected experience  224,570  412,531 

Adjusted balance, beginning of year  7,802,772  6,839,394 
Issuances (1)  972,446  834,007 
Interest accrual (2)  151,345  140,239 
Benefit payments (4)  (424,216)  (368,469) 
Foreign currency translation  (238,332)  49,408 

Ending balance at original discount rate  8,264,015  7,494,579 
Effect of changes in discount rate assumptions  (3,278,642)  (2,961,749) 

Balance, end of period $ 4,985,373 $ 4,532,830 

Liability for future policy benefits $ 349,903 $ 375,139 
Less: reinsurance recoverable  (65,267)  (99,717) 
Net liability for future policy benefits $ 284,636 $ 275,422 

Weighted-average duration of the liability (in years)  13  13 
Weighted-average interest accretion rate  1.9 %  1.9 %
Weighted-average current discount rate  4.8 %  4.6 %

(1) Issuances: The present value, using the original discount rate, of the expected net premiums or the expected future policy benefits related to 
new reinsurance contracts that became effective during the current period and new policies assumed on existing contracts.

(2) Interest accrual: The interest earned on the beginning present value of either the expected net premiums or the expected future policy 
benefits using the original interest rate.

(3) Net premiums collected: The portion of gross premiums collected from the ceding company that is used to fund expected benefit payments.

(4) Benefit payments: The release of the present value, using the original discount rate, of the expected future policy benefits due to death, 
lapse/withdrawal, and other benefit payments based on current assumptions.

       Financial Solutions Business 

Significant assumptions used to compute the liability for future policy benefits for the financial solutions business include 
mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and discount rates (both accretion and current). During 2024 and 2023, the Company updated its 
assumptions which resulted in an increase of $2.8 million and a decrease of $6.0 million, respectively, excluding the effects of 
reinsurance, in the Company's liability for future policy benefits for its financial solutions business. The increase and decrease in 
the liability in 2024 and 2023 were primarily the result of updating the mortality and lapse assumptions used to measure the 
liability for future policy benefits. The Company also updated the underlying market data used to determine the current discount 
rate resulting in changes to the discount rate assumption used to measure the net liability for future policy benefits.
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The following tables provide the balances of and changes in the Company's liability for future policy benefits including the DPL 
related to the longevity business, for its Financial Solutions business, which primarily consists of longevity reinsurance, 
reinsurance of asset-intensive products, primarily annuities and financial reinsurance for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Present Value of Expected Net Premiums
Beginning of year balance at original discount rate $ 10,024,407 $ 6,473,873 

Effect of changes in cash flow assumptions  22,824  (105,470) 
Effect of actual variances from expected experience  562,430  3,396,801 

Adjusted balance, beginning of year  10,609,661  9,765,204 
Issuances (1)  5,151,045  1,970,111 
Interest accrual (2)  359,304  270,653 
Net premiums collected (3)  (6,384,084)  (2,333,472) 
Foreign currency translation  (190,874)  351,911 

Ending balance at original discount rate  9,545,052  10,024,407 
Effect of changes in discount rate assumptions  (1,177,207)  (785,915) 

Balance, end of period $ 8,367,845 $ 9,238,492 

Present Value of Expected Future Policy Benefits
Beginning of year balance at original discount rate $ 11,389,543 $ 6,519,888 

Effect of changes in cash flow assumptions  25,619  (111,431) 
Effect of actual variances from expected experience  573,150  3,370,184 

Adjusted balance, beginning of year  11,988,312  9,778,641 
Issuances (1)  5,151,045  1,974,280 
Interest accrual (2)  453,748  288,840 
Benefit payments (4)  (1,162,808)  (938,587) 
Foreign currency translation  (620,905)  286,369 

Ending balance at original discount rate  15,809,392  11,389,543 
Effect of changes in discount rate assumptions  (1,732,773)  (831,346) 

Balance, end of period $ 14,076,619 $ 10,558,197 

Liability for future policy benefits $ 5,708,774 $ 1,319,705 
Less: reinsurance recoverable  (3,715,550)  (440,290) 
Net liability for future policy benefits $ 1,993,224 $ 879,415 

Weighted-average duration of the liability (in years)  10  9 
Weighted-average interest accretion rate  3.6 %  3.3 %
Weighted-average current discount rate  4.4 %  4.3 %

(1) Issuances: The present value, using the original discount rate, of the expected net premiums or the expected future policy benefits related to 
new reinsurance contracts that became effective during the current period and new policies assumed on existing contracts.

(2) Interest accrual: The interest earned on the beginning present value of either the expected net premiums or the expected future policy 
benefits using the original interest rate.

(3) Net premiums collected: The portion of gross premiums collected from the ceding company that is used to fund expected benefit payments.

(4) Benefit payments: The release of the present value, using the original discount rate, of the expected future policy benefits due to death, 
lapse/withdrawal, and other benefit payments based on current assumptions. 
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Reconciliation and Other Disclosures 
The reconciliation of the rollforward of the liability for future policy benefits to the balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Liability for future policy benefits included in the rollforwards:

Traditional $ 349,903 $ 375,139 
Financial Solutions  5,708,774  1,319,705 

Claims liability and IBNR  540,326  519,131 
Total liability for future policy benefits $ 6,599,003 $ 2,213,975 

The amount of undiscounted and discounted expected future gross premiums and expected future benefit payments for the 
liability for future policy benefits included in the rollforwards as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (dollars in 
thousands):

2024 2023
Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted Discounted

Expected future gross premiums
Traditional $ 13,785,424 $ 5,667,778 $ 12,348,187 $ 5,184,772 
Financial Solutions  13,976,124  8,739,201  16,356,808  10,692,227 

Expected future policy benefit payments
Traditional $ 12,308,797 $ 4,985,373 $ 11,016,960 $ 4,532,830 
Financial Solutions  23,014,427  14,076,619  16,145,430  10,558,197 

The amount of gross premiums and interest expense recognized in the statements of income for the liability for future policy 
benefits included in the rollforwards for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Gross Premiums Interest Expense
2024 2023 2024 2023

Traditional $ 439,819 $ 391,624 $ 14,839 $ 14,607 
Financial Solutions  284,321  242,543  94,444  18,187 

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, no material charges were incurred resulting from net premiums 
exceeding gross premiums.

Note 5  DEFERRED POLICY ACQUISITION COSTS

The following tables provide the balances of and changes in DAC for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in 
thousands): 

For the year ended December 31, 2024: Traditional Financial Solutions Total
Balance, beginning of year $ 60,049 $ — $ 60,049 

Capitalization  7,291  2,629  9,920 
Amortization expense  (5,901)  (184)  (6,085) 
Foreign currency translation  (1,267)  (220)  (1,487) 

Balance, end of period $ 60,172 $ 2,225 $ 62,397 

For the year ended December 31, 2023: Traditional Financial Solutions Total
Balance, beginning of year $ 51,224 $ — $ 51,224 

Capitalization  11,279  —  11,279 
Amortization expense  (2,604)  —  (2,604) 
Foreign currency translation  150  —  150 

Balance, end of period $ 60,049 $ — $ 60,049 

Note 6  REINSURANCE

Ceded Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to limit its exposure to loss on any single insured and to recover a portion 
of benefits paid by ceding reinsurance to other insurance or reinsurance companies under excess coverage and coinsurance 
contracts. 

Retrocession reinsurance treaties do not relieve the Company from its obligations to the ceding companies. Failure of 
retrocessionaires to honor their obligations could result in losses to the Company. The Company regularly evaluates the financial 
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condition of the insurance and reinsurance companies from which it assumes and to which it cedes reinsurance. Allowances 
would be established for amounts deemed uncollectible. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, no allowances were deemed 
necessary. 

Retrocessions are arranged through the Company's retrocession pools for amounts in excess of the Company's retention limit, 
which was increased as of January 1, 2025. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, all rated retrocession pool participants followed 
by the A.M. Best Company were rated "B++ (good)" or better.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 $0.5 million and $1.5 million of claims recoverable were with affiliates, respectively. 

The effect of reinsurance on net premiums is as follows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Reinsurance assumed:

Affiliated  49,971  44,739 
Non-affiliated  908,262  704,245 

Total reinsurance assumed  958,233  748,984 
Reinsurance retroceded:

Affiliated  (219,299)  (295,804) 
Non-affiliated  (28,332)  (34,237) 

Total reinsurance retroceded  (247,631)  (330,041) 
Net premiums $ 710,602 $ 418,943 

The effect of reinsurance on claims and other policy benefits and future policy benefits remeasurement gains and losses is as 
follows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Reinsurance assumed:

Affiliated  70,680  71,706 
Non-affiliated  791,696  526,781 

Total reinsurance assumed  862,376  598,487 
Reinsurance retroceded:

Affiliated  (206,307)  (99,987) 
Non-affiliated  (26,021)  (31,524) 

Total reinsurance retroceded  (232,328)  (131,511) 
Net claims and other policy benefits and future policy benefits remeasurement gains and losses $ 630,048 $ 466,976 

The effect of reinsurance on life reinsurance in force is shown in the following schedule as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(dollars in millions):

2024 2023
Life insurance in force assumed:

Affiliated  4,243  4,215 
Non-affiliated  216,384  273,014 

Total life insurance in force assumed  220,627  277,229 
Life insurance in force retroceded:

Affiliated  (19,283)  (2,371) 
Non-affiliated  (19,182)  (14,228) 

Total life insurance in force retroceded  (38,465)  (16,599) 
Life insurance in force net:

Affiliated  (15,040)  1,844 
Non-affiliated  197,202  258,786 

Total life insurance in force net $ 182,162 $ 260,630 
Assumed/net percentage  121.12 %  106.37 %

Assumed Reinsurance

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, the Company provided approximately $518.1 million and $173.8 million of 
financial reinsurance, as measured by pre-tax statutory surplus, risk based capital and other financial reinsurance structures, to 
other insurance companies under financial reinsurance or capital solutions transactions to assist ceding companies in meeting 
applicable regulatory requirements. Generally, such financial reinsurance is provided by the Company committing cash or 
assuming insurance liabilities, which are collateralized by future profits on the reinsured business. The Company earns a fee 
based on the amount of net outstanding financial reinsurance.
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Reinsurance treaties, whether facultative or automatic, may provide for recapture rights on the part of the ceding company. 
Recapture rights permit the ceding company to reassume all or a portion of the risk formerly ceded to the reinsurer after an 
agreed-upon period of time, generally 10 years, or in some cases due to changes in the financial condition or ratings of the 
reinsurer. Recapture of business previously ceded does not affect premiums ceded prior to the recapture of such business but 
would reduce premiums in subsequent periods. Additionally, some reinsurance treaties give the ceding company the right to 
require the Company to place assets in trust for their benefit to support the ceding company’s statutory reserve credits, in the 
event of a downgrade of the Company’s credit ratings and or other statutory measure to specified levels, generally non-
investment grade levels, or if minimum levels of financial condition are not maintained. As of December 31, 2024, the Company 
was not required to post additional collateral and did not have a reinsurance treaty recaptured as a result of credit downgrade or 
defined statutory measure decline.

Note 7  INVESTMENTS

Fixed Maturity Securities Available-for-Sale 

The Company holds various types of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale and classifies them as corporate securities 
(“Corporate”), Japanese government and agencies (“Japanese government”), asset-backed securities (“ABS”), commercial 
mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”), residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”), U.S. government and agencies (“U.S. 
government”), state and political subdivisions, and other foreign government, supranational and foreign government-sponsored 
enterprises (“Other foreign government”). ABS, CMBS, and RMBS are collectively “structured securities.”

The following tables provide information relating to investments in fixed maturity securities by type as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023 (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024: Amortized Allowance for Unrealized Unrealized Estimated % of
Cost Credit Losses Gains Losses Fair Value Total

Available-for-sale:
Corporate $ 3,810,490 $ 9,614 $ 145,608 $ 84,120 $ 3,862,364  57.8 %
Japanese government  1,765,112  —  —  233,999  1,531,113  22.9 
ABS  75,073  —  8,199  573  82,699  1.2 
CMBS  109,789  23  6,105  4,139  111,732  1.7 
RMBS  60,218  —  8,239  414  68,043  1.0 
U.S. government  37,147  —  368  809  36,706  0.5 
State and political subdivisions  18,673  —  43  601  18,115  0.3 
Other foreign government  963,705  —  18,649  6,760  975,594  14.6 

Total fixed maturity securities $ 6,840,207 $ 9,637 $ 187,211 $ 331,415 $ 6,686,366  100.0 %

 

December 31, 2023: Amortized Allowance for Unrealized Unrealized Estimated % of
Cost Credit Losses Gains Losses Fair Value Total

Available-for-sale:
Corporate $ 1,578,139 $ 13,929 $ 40,187 $ 43,004 $ 1,561,393  58.5 %
Japanese government  600,258  —  1  55,055  545,204  20.4 
ABS  77,919  —  2,235  328  79,826  3.0 
CMBS  124,672  —  1,234  11,754  114,152  4.3 
RMBS  71,671  —  2,226  583  73,314  2.7 
U.S. government  106,186  —  110  200  106,096  4.0 
State and political subdivisions  12,131  —  —  581  11,550  0.5 
Other foreign government  176,527  —  2,553  3,284  175,796  6.6 

Total fixed maturity securities $ 2,747,503 $ 13,929 $ 48,546 $ 114,789 $ 2,667,331  100.0 %
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The Company monitors its concentrations of financial instruments on an ongoing basis and mitigates credit risk by maintaining a 
diversified investment portfolio that limits exposure to any one issuer. The Company’s exposure to concentrations of credit risk 
from single issuers, including certain agencies, greater than 10% of the Company’s equity are disclosed below, as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023

Amortized Cost
Estimated 
Fair Value Amortized Cost

Estimated 
Fair Value

Fixed maturity securities guaranteed or issued by:
Japanese government $ 1,765,112 $ 1,531,113 $ 600,258 $ 545,204 
Republic of Korea  645,855  658,323  —  — 
Berkshire Hathaway Inc  146,804  140,617  23,254  23,477 
Volkswagen  75,284  75,519  15,179  15,069 
Prologis LP  63,518  60,111  52,179  50,014 
JPMorgan Chase & Co  60,991  58,619  39,281  38,657 
Government of Malaysia  53,593  53,587  46,348  46,275 
Lloyds Banking Group  52,028  52,687  21,276  21,197 
Societe Generale  52,234  52,064  21,114  20,756 
Citigroup Inc.  53,161  48,053  7,713  7,463 

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale as of December 31, 2024, 
are shown by contractual maturity in the table below (dollars in thousands). Actual maturities can differ from contractual 
maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. 
Structured securities are shown separately in the table below, as they are not due at a single maturity date.

Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value

Available-for-sale:
Due in one year or less $ 130,088 $ 130,230 
Due after one year through five years  799,290  836,220 
Due after five years through ten years  1,325,256  1,364,511 
Due after ten years  4,340,493  4,092,931 
Structured securities  245,080  262,474 

Total $ 6,840,207 $ 6,686,366 

Corporate Fixed Maturity Securities

The tables below show the major sectors of the Company's corporate fixed maturity holdings as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2024: Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value % of Total

Finance $ 1,657,281 $ 1,669,330  43.2 %
Industrial  1,742,141  1,781,665  46.1 
Utility  411,068  411,369  10.7 

Total $ 3,810,490 $ 3,862,364  100.0 %

December 31, 2023: Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value % of Total

Finance $ 773,837 $ 766,182  49.1 %
Industrial  665,990  658,875  42.2 
Utility  138,312  136,336  8.7 

Total $ 1,578,139 $ 1,561,393  100.0 %

Allowance for Credit Losses and Impairments – Fixed Maturity Securities Available-for-Sale

As discussed in Note 2 – “Significant Accounting Policies and Pronouncements,” allowances for credit losses on fixed maturity 
securities are recognized in investment related losses, net. The Company estimates the amount of the credit loss component of 
a fixed maturity security impairment as the difference between amortized cost and the present value of the expected cash flows 
of the security. Any remaining difference between the fair value and amortized cost is recognized in OCI.
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The following tables present the rollforward of the allowance for credit losses in fixed maturity securities by type for the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

For the year ended December 31, 2024: Corporate CMBS Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 13,929 $ — $ 13,929 

Credit losses recognized on securities for which credit losses were not previously 
recorded  —  23  23 
Additional increases or decreases for credit losses on securities that had an 
allowance recorded in a previous period  (3,967)  —  (3,967) 
Foreign currency translation  (348)  —  (348) 

Balance, end of period $ 9,614 $ 23 $ 9,637 

For the year ended December 31, 2023: Corporate
Balance, beginning of period $ — 
   Credit losses recognized on securities for which credit losses were not previously recorded  13,929 
Balance, end of period $ 13,929 

Unrealized Losses for Fixed Maturity Securities Available-for-Sale

The Company’s determination of whether a decline in value necessitates the recording of an allowance for credit losses includes 
an analysis of whether the issuer is current on its contractual payments, evaluating whether it is probable that the Company will 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the security and analyzing the overall ability of the 
Company to recover the amortized cost of the investment.

The following tables present the estimated fair value and gross unrealized losses for the 418 and 315 fixed maturity securities for 
which both the estimated fair value had declined and remained below amortized cost and an allowance for credit loss has not 
been recorded as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands). These investments are presented by 
class and grade of security, as well as the length of time the related fair value has continuously remained below amortized cost.

December 31, 2024: Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Estimated Gross Estimated Gross Estimated Gross

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Investment grade securities:
Corporate $ 1,120,674 $ 40,357 $ 496,617 $ 43,119 $ 1,617,291 $ 83,476 
Japanese government  1,175,966  139,289  355,148  94,710  1,531,114  233,999 
ABS  11,398  170  3,976  403  15,374  573 
CMBS  1,945  9  43,809  3,810  45,754  3,819 
RMBS  —  —  3,321  414  3,321  414 
U.S. government  31,536  516  815  293  32,351  809 
State and political subdivisions  4,450  122  7,188  479  11,638  601 
Other foreign government  159,357  3,266  57,966  3,494  217,323  6,760 

Total investment grade securities  2,505,326  183,729  968,840  146,722  3,474,166  330,451 
Below investment grade securities:

Corporate  —  —  4,371  644  4,371  644 
Total fixed maturity securities $ 2,505,326 $ 183,729 $ 973,211 $ 147,366 $ 3,478,537 $ 331,095 
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December 31, 2023: Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Estimated Gross Estimated Gross Estimated Gross

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Investment grade securities:
Corporate $ 315,366 $ 10,709 $ 505,003 $ 30,771 $ 820,369 $ 41,480 
Japanese government  458,935  40,463  80,207  14,592  539,142  55,055 
ABS  22,551  328  —  —  22,551  328 
CMBS  17,420  584  76,353  11,170  93,773  11,754 
RMBS  —  —  13,349  583  13,349  583 
U.S. government  47,701  9  918  191  48,619  200 
State and political subdivisions  —  —  11,550  581  11,550  581 
Other foreign government  37,232  457  71,905  2,827  109,137  3,284 

Total investment grade securities  899,205  52,550  759,285  60,715  1,658,490  113,265 
Below investment grade securities:

Corporate  —  —  6,899  1,471  6,899  1,471 
Total fixed maturity securities $ 899,205 $ 52,550 $ 766,184 $ 62,186 $ 1,665,389 $ 114,736 

The Company did not intend to sell, and more likely than not would not be required to sell, the securities outlined in the tables 
above, as of the dates presented. However, unforeseen facts and circumstances may cause the Company to sell fixed maturity 
securities in the ordinary course of managing its portfolio to meet certain diversification, credit quality and liquidity guidelines. 
Changes in unrealized losses are primarily driven by changes in risk-free interest rates and credit spreads.

Net Investment Income

Major categories of net investment income consist of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in 
thousands):

2024 2023
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale $ 192,162 $ 83,748 
Equity securities  101  126 
Funds withheld at interest  (102,442)  2,912 
Short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents  4,710  5,305 
Derivatives  (49,153)  (14,330) 
Investment income  45,378  77,761 

Investment expense  (9,039)  (3,564) 
Net investment income $ 36,339 $ 74,197 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company held non-income producing securities with amortized costs, net of allowances, of $12.7 
million and estimated fair values of $17.0 million. As of December 31, 2023, the Company held non-income producing securities 
with amortized costs, net of allowances, of $10.6 million and estimated fair values of $11.8 million. Generally, securities are non-
income producing when principal or interest is not paid primarily as a result of bankruptcies or credit defaults.

Investment Related Losses, Net

Investment related losses, net consist of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:

Change in allowance for credit losses $ 3,944 $ (13,929) 
Impairments on fixed maturity securities  —  (194) 
Realized gains on investment activity  29,850  1,915 
Realized losses on investment activity  (92,797)  (53,116) 

Net gains on equity securities  184  200 
Net losses on derivatives  (88,799)  (64,557) 
Other, net  3,250  10,776 
Total investment related losses, net $ (144,368) $ (118,905) 

For the year ended December 31, 2024 there were no securities purchased from or sold to affiliates for cash. For the year ended 
December 31, 2023 there were securities sold to affiliates for cash with amortized costs of $22.9 million and estimated fair values 
of $20.8 million. There were no securities purchased from affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Collateral Arrangements

The Company enters into various collateral arrangements with counterparties that require both the pledging and acceptance of 
invested assets as collateral. Pledged invested assets are included in the balance sheets. Invested assets received as collateral 
are held in separate custodial accounts and are not recorded on the Company’s balance sheets. Subject to certain constraints, 
the Company is permitted by contract to sell or repledge collateral it receives; however, as of December 31, 2024 and December 
31, 2023, none of the collateral received had been sold or repledged.

The Company also holds assets in trust to satisfy collateral requirements under derivative transactions and certain third-party 
reinsurance treaties. 

The following table includes invested assets pledged and received as collateral and assets in trust held to satisfy collateral 
requirements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Invested assets pledged as collateral $ 264,039 $ 227,635 $ 47,638 $ 43,561 
Invested assets received as collateral n/a  917,627 n/a  754,978 
Assets in trust held to satisfy collateral requirements  5,411,995  5,390,817  1,515,305  1,518,280 

Securities Lending and Repurchase Agreements

The Company does not have any active securities lending or repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2024. The following 
table provides the estimated fair value of securities relating to securities lending and repurchase agreements as of December 31, 
2023 (dollars in thousands):

2023
Securities Loaned, Pledged, or 

Sold (1) Cash Collateral Received from Counterparties (2)
Securities lending transactions $ 26,119 $ — 
Repurchase transactions  115,541  98,313 

(1) Securities loaned or pledged through securities lending transactions or sold to counterparties through repurchase transactions are included within fixed maturity 
securities. Collateral associated with certain securities lending transactions is not included within this table as the collateral pledged to the counterparty is the 
right to reinsurance treaty cash flows. Certain securities lending transactions do not require collateral.

(2) A payable for the cash received by the Company is included within securities lending obligation.

The following table presents the estimated fair value of securities by the remaining contractual maturity of the Company’s 
securities lending and repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2023
Remaining Contractual Maturity of the Agreements

Overnight and 
Continuous Up to 30 Days 30 - 90 Days

Greater than 90 
Days Total

Securities lending transactions:
Corporate $ — $ — $ — $ 26,119 $ 26,119 

Total  —  —  —  26,119  26,119 
Repurchase transactions:

Corporate  —  —  —  57,259  57,259 
ABS  —  —  —  2,948  2,948 
CMBS  —  —  —  45,860  45,860 
RMBS  —  —  —  3,502  3,502 
Other foreign government  —  —  —  5,972  5,972 

Total  —  —  —  115,541  115,541 
Total transactions $ — $ — $ — $ 141,660 $ 141,660 

Funds Withheld at Interest  

In the event of a ceding company's insolvency, the Company would need to assert a claim on the assets supporting its reserve 
liabilities. However, the risk of loss to the Company is mitigated by its ability to offset amounts it owes the ceding company for 
claims or allowances against amounts owed to the Company from the ceding company.

Note 8  DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
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See Note 2 - "Significant Accounting Policies and Pronouncements" for a detailed discussion of the accounting treatment for 
derivative instruments and Note 9 - "Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities" for additional disclosures related to the fair value 
hierarchy for derivative instruments.

Types of Derivatives Used by the Company

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Foreign currency swaps are used by the Company to reduce the risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 
associated with its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. With a foreign currency swap transaction, the 
Company agrees with another party to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between one currency and another at a 
forward exchange rate calculated by reference to an agreed upon principal amount. The principal amount of each currency is 
exchanged at the termination of the currency swap by each party.

Foreign currency forwards are used by the Company to reduce the risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 
associated with its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. With a foreign currency forward transaction, the 
Company agrees with another party to deliver a specified amount of an identified currency at a specified future date. The price is 
agreed upon at the time of the contract and payment for such a contract is made in a different currency at the specified future 
date.

Foreign currency options are used by the Company to reduce the risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 
associated with its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. With a foreign currency option transaction, the 
Company purchases an option contract that gives it the right, but not the obligation, to exchange a specified amount of one 
currency for a specified amount of a different currency on or before a specific date. The contracts may also be net settled in 
cash, based on differentials in the foreign currency exchange rate and the strike price.

Credit Derivatives

The Company sells protection under credit default swap index tranches to diversify its credit risk exposure in certain portfolios 
and, in combination with purchasing securities, to replicate characteristics of similar investments based on the credit quality and 
term of the credit default swap. Credit default triggers for indexed reference entities are defined in the contracts. The Company's 
maximum exposure to credit loss equals the notional value for credit default swaps. In the event of default of a referencing entity, 
the Company is typically required to pay the protection holder the full notional value less a recovery amount determined at 
auction.

Interest Rate Derivatives

Forward bond purchase commitments are used by the Company to hedge against the variability in the anticipated cash flows 
required to purchase securities. With forward bond purchase commitments, the forward price is agreed upon at the time of the 
contract and payment for such contract is made at the future specified settlement date of the securities. The Company uses 
forward bond purchase commitments in cash flow hedges.

Summary of Derivative Positions

Freestanding derivatives are included in total invested assets or derivative liabilities at fair value. The following table presents the 
notional amounts and gross fair value of derivative instruments prior to taking into account the netting effects of master netting 
agreements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Primary 
Underlying Risk

Notional 
Amount

Carrying Value/
Fair Value Notional 

Amount

Carrying Value/
Fair Value

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivatives not designated as 
hedging instruments:

Foreign currency forwards Foreign currency $ 300,578 $ 9,220 $ 2,895 $ 366,374 $ 16,191 $ — 
Foreign currency options Foreign currency  350,000  1,038  —  —  —  — 
Credit default swaps Credit  997,500  —  113  70,000  —  41 
Total non-designated derivatives  1,648,078  10,258  3,008  436,374  16,191  41 

Derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments:

Foreign currency swaps Foreign currency  1,831,646  —  139,198  468,309  —  31,583 
Forward bond purchase 
commitments Interest rate  99,454  264  14,712  69,269  —  6,655 
Total hedging derivatives  1,931,100  264  153,910  537,578  —  38,238 

Total derivatives $ 3,579,178 $ 10,522 $ 156,918 $ 973,952 $ 16,191 $ 38,279 

Cash Flow Hedges

Certain derivative instruments are designated as cash flow hedges when they meet the requirements of the general accounting 
principles for Derivatives and Hedging. The Company designates and accounts for the following as cash flows hedges: (i) foreign 
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currency swaps, in which the cash flows of assets are denominated in different currencies, commonly referred to as cross-
currency swaps; and (ii) forward bond purchase commitments.

The following table presents the cash flow hedge components of AOCI, before income taxes, and where the gain or loss related 
to cash flow hedges is recognized on the income statement classification for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(dollars in thousands):

Amounts Included in AOCI
Balance, January 1, 2023 $ (940) 

Losses deferred in OCI  (51,628) 
Amounts reclassified to net investment income  14,330 

Balance, December 31, 2023  (38,238) 
Losses deferred in OCI  (164,561) 
Amounts reclassified to net investment income  49,153 

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ (153,646) 

As of December 31, 2024, approximately $68.2 million of before-tax deferred net losses on derivative instruments recorded in 
AOCI are expected to be reclassified to net investment income during the next twelve months.

The following table presents the effect of derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships on the statements of income and the 
statements of shareholder's equity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

Derivative Type
Losses Deferred 

in OCI

Losses 
Reclassified into 

Income from 
AOCI

For the year ended December 31, 2024:
Net Investment 

Income
Foreign currency $ (156,768) $ (49,153) 
Interest rate  (7,793)  — 
Total $ (164,561) $ (49,153) 

For the year ended December 31, 2023:
Foreign currency $ (44,973) $ (14,330) 
Interest rate  (6,655)  — 
Total $ (51,628) $ (14,330) 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there are no material amounts reclassified into earnings relating to instances 
in which the Company discontinued cash flow hedge accounting because the forecasted transaction did not occur by the 
anticipated date or within the additional time period permitted by the authoritative guidance for the accounting for derivatives and 
hedging.

Hedges of Net Investments in Foreign Operations

There was no gain or loss deferred in OCI for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The cumulative foreign currency 
translation loss recorded in AOCI related to these hedges was $8.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.  

If a hedged foreign operation was sold or substantially liquidated, the amounts in AOCI would be reclassified to the statements of 
income. A pro rata portion would be reclassified upon partial sale of a hedged foreign operation. There were no sales or 
substantial liquidations of net investments in foreign operations that would have required the reclassification of gains or losses 
from AOCI into investment income during the periods presented.

Non-qualifying Derivatives and Derivatives for Purposes Other Than Hedging

The Company uses various other derivative instruments for risk management purposes that either do not qualify or have not 
been elected for hedge accounting treatment. The gain or loss related to the change in fair value for these derivative instruments 
is recognized in investment related losses, net except where otherwise noted. 

A summary of the effect of non-qualifying derivatives on the Company's statements of income for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023 is as follows (dollars in thousands): 
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Gains (Losses) for the years ended December 31,

Type of Non-qualifying Derivative
Income Statement 

Location of Gains (Losses) 2024 2023
Foreign currency forwards Investment related losses, net $ (90,882) $ (65,455) 
Foreign currency options Investment related losses, net  (6,192)  — 
Credit default swaps Investment related losses, net  8,266  873 
Total non-qualifying derivatives $ (88,808) $ (64,582) 

Credit Derivatives

The following table presents the estimated fair value, maximum amount of future payments and weighted average years to 
maturity of credit default swaps sold by the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023

Rating Agency Designation of 
Referenced Credit Obligations(1)

Estimated Fair 
Value of Credit 
Default Swaps

Maximum 
Amount of 

Future 
Payments under 

Credit Default 
Swaps(2)

Weighted 
Average Years 
to Maturity(3)

Estimated Fair 
Value of Credit 
Default Swaps

Maximum 
Amount of 

Future 
Payments under 

Credit Default 
Swaps(2)

Weighted 
Average Years 
to Maturity(3)

BBB
Credit default swaps referencing 
indices $ (113) $ 997,500 4.8 $ (41) $ 70,000 5.0

(1) The rating agency designations are based on ratings from Standard and Poor's.
(2) Assumes the value of the referenced credit obligations is zero.
(3) The weighted average years to maturity of the credit default swaps is calculated based on weighted average notional amounts.

Netting Arrangements and Credit Risk

Certain of the Company's freestanding derivatives are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements and reported as a net 
asset or liability in the balance sheets. The Company nets all derivatives that are subject to such arrangements.

The Company has elected to include all freestanding derivatives in the table below, irrespective of whether they are subject to an 
enforceable master netting arrangement or a similar agreement. See Note - 7 "Investments" for information regarding the 
Company's securities lending and repurchase agreements.

The following table provides information relating to the netting of the Company's derivative instruments as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

Gross Amounts 
Recognized

Gross Amounts 
Offset in the 

Balance Sheets

Net Amounts 
Presented in the 
Balance Sheets

Financial 
Instruments/
Collateral(1) Net Amount

December 31, 2024:
Derivative assets $ 10,522 $ (6,050) $ 4,472 $ (4,472) $ — 
Derivative liabilities  156,918  (6,050)  150,868  (150,868)  — 

December 31, 2023:
Derivative assets $ 16,191 $ (1,816) $ 14,375 $ (14,060) $ 315 
Derivative liabilities  38,279  (1,816)  36,463  (36,463)  — 

(1) Includes initial margin posted to a central clearing partner for financial instruments and excludes the excess of collateral received/pledged 
from/to the counterparty.

The Company may be exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to derivative financial 
instruments. Generally, the credit exposure of the Company's derivative contracts is limited to the fair value and accrued interest 
of non-collateralized derivative contracts in an asset position at the reporting date. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 
no credit exposure.

Derivatives may be exchange-traded or they may be privately negotiated contracts, which are referred to as over-the-counter 
("OTC") derivatives. Certain of the Company's OTC derivatives are cleared and settled through central clearing counterparties 
("OTC cleared") and others are bilateral contracts between two counterparties. Additionally, the Company is required to pledge 
initial margin for certain OTC-bilateral derivative transactions. The Company manages its credit risk related to OTC derivatives by 
entering into transactions with creditworthy counterparties, maintaining collateral arrangements and through the use of master 
netting agreements that provide for a single net payment to be made by one counterparty to another at each due date and upon 
termination. The Company is only exposed to the default of the central clearing counterparties for OTC cleared derivatives, and 
these transactions require initial and daily variation margin collateral postings. Exchange-traded derivatives are settled on a daily 
basis, thereby reducing the credit risk exposure in the event of non-performance by counterparties to such financial instruments.

Note 9  FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
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Fair Value Measurement

General accounting principles for Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures define fair value as the exchange price that would 
be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. These principles also establish a three-
level fair value hierarchy that requires the entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and to minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Active markets are defined through various 
characteristics for the measured asset/liability, such as having many transactions and narrow bid/ask spreads.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in 
markets that are not active; or market standard valuation techniques and assumptions that use significant inputs that are 
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the 
related assets or liabilities and include those whose value is determined using market standard valuation techniques described 
above. Prices are determined using valuation methodologies such as discounted cash flow models and other similar techniques 
that require management's judgment or estimation in developing inputs that are consistent with those other market participants 
would use when pricing similar assets and liabilities. 

Assets and Liabilities by Hierarchy Level 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are summarized below 
(dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2024: Fair Value Measurements Using:
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:

Corporate $ 3,862,364 $ — $ 3,494,692 $ 367,672 
Japanese government  1,531,113  —  1,531,113  — 
ABS  82,699  —  62,919  19,780 
CMBS  111,732  —  111,732  — 
RMBS  68,043  —  68,043  — 
U.S. government  36,706  35,891  815  — 
State and political subdivisions  18,115  —  18,115  — 
Other foreign government  975,594  —  975,594  — 

Total fixed maturity securities available-for-sale  6,686,366  35,891  6,263,023  387,452 
Equity securities  1,854  —  —  1,854 
Cash equivalents  39,416  37,325  2,091  — 
Short-term investments  27,643  12,082  15,561  — 
Derivatives  4,472  —  4,472  — 
Total $ 6,759,751 $ 85,298 $ 6,285,147 $ 389,306 

Liabilities:
Derivative liabilities $ 150,868 $ — $ 150,868 $ — 

Total $ 150,868 $ — $ 150,868 $ — 
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December 31, 2023: Fair Value Measurements Using:
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:

Corporate $ 1,561,393 $ — $ 1,285,743 $ 275,650 
Japanese government  545,204  —  545,204  — 
ABS  79,826  —  55,505  24,321 
CMBS  114,152  —  114,152  — 
RMBS  73,314  —  73,314  — 
U.S. government  106,096  105,178  918  — 
State and political subdivisions  11,550  —  11,550  — 
Other foreign government  175,796  —  175,796  — 

Total fixed maturity securities available-for-sale  2,667,331  105,178  2,262,182  299,971 
Equity securities  1,871  —  —  1,871 
Cash equivalents  14,784  14,784  —  — 
Short-term investments  18,424  —  18,424  — 
Derivatives  14,375  —  14,375  — 
Total $ 2,716,785 $ 119,962 $ 2,294,981 $ 301,842 

Liabilities:
Derivative liabilities $ 36,463 $ — $ 36,463 $ — 

Total $ 36,463 $ — $ 36,463 $ — 

The Company may utilize information from third parties, such as pricing services and brokers, to assist in determining the fair 
value for certain assets and liabilities; however, management is ultimately responsible for all fair values presented in the 
Company's financial statements. This includes responsibility for monitoring the fair value process, ensuring objective and reliable 
valuation practices and pricing of assets and liabilities, and approving changes to valuation methodologies and pricing sources. 
The selection of the valuation technique(s) to apply considers the definition of an exit price and the nature of the asset or liability 
being valued and significant expertise and judgment is required.

The Company performs initial and ongoing analysis and review of the various techniques utilized in determining fair value to 
ensure that they are appropriate and consistently applied, and that the various assumptions are reasonable. The Company 
analyzes and reviews the information and prices received from third parties to ensure that the prices represent a reasonable 
estimate of the fair value and to monitor controls around pricing, which includes quantitative and qualitative analysis and is 
overseen by the Company's investment and accounting personnel. Examples of procedures performed include, but are not 
limited to, review of pricing trends, comparison of a sample of executed prices of securities sold to the fair value estimates, 
comparison of fair value estimates to management's knowledge of the current market, and ongoing confirmation that third party 
pricing services use, wherever possible, market-based parameters for valuation. In addition, the Company utilizes both internal 
and external cash flow models to analyze the reasonableness of fair values utilizing credit spread and other market assumptions, 
where appropriate. As a result of the analysis, if the Company determines there is a more appropriate fair value based upon the 
available market data, the price received from the third party is adjusted accordingly. The Company also determines if the inputs 
used in estimated fair values received from pricing services are observable by assessing whether these inputs can be 
corroborated by observable market data.

For assets and liabilities reported at fair value, the Company utilizes, when available, fair values based on quoted prices in active 
markets that are regularly and readily obtainable. Generally, these are very liquid investments and the valuation does not require 
management judgment. When quoted prices in active markets are not available, fair value is based on market valuation 
techniques, market comparable pricing and the income approach. The use of different techniques, assumptions and inputs may 
have a material effect on the estimated fair values of the Company's securities holdings. For the periods presented, the 
application of market standard valuation techniques applied to similar assets and liabilities has been consistent.

The methods and assumptions the Company uses to estimate the fair value of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis are summarized below.

Fixed Maturity Securities – The fair values of the Company's publicly-traded fixed maturity securities are generally based on 
prices obtained from independent pricing services. Prices from pricing services are sourced from multiple vendors, and a vendor 
hierarchy is maintained by asset type based on historical pricing experience and vendor expertise. The Company generally 
receives prices from multiple pricing services for each security, but ultimately uses the price from the vendor that is highest in the 
hierarchy for the respective asset type. To validate reasonableness, prices are periodically reviewed as explained above. 
Consistent with the fair value hierarchy described above, securities with quotes from pricing services are generally reflected 
within Level 2, as they are primarily based on observable pricing for similar assets and/or other market observable inputs. If the 
pricing information received from third party pricing services is not reflective of market activity or other inputs observable in the 
market, the Company may challenge the price through a formal process with the pricing service.

If the Company ultimately concludes that pricing information received from the independent pricing service is not reflective of fair 
value, non-binding broker quotes are used, if available. If the Company concludes that the values from both pricing services and 
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brokers are not reflective of fair value, an internally developed valuation may be prepared; however, this occurs infrequently. 
Internally developed valuations or non-binding broker quotes are also used to determine fair value in circumstances where 
vendor pricing is not available. These valuations may use significant unobservable inputs, which reflect the Company's 
assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset. Observable market data may not be 
available in certain circumstances such as market illiquidity and credit events related to the security. Internally developed 
valuations and non-binding broker quotes are generally based on significant unobservable inputs and are reflected as Level 3 in 
the valuation hierarchy.

The inputs used in the valuation of corporate and government securities include, but are not limited to, standard market 
observable inputs that are derived from, or corroborated by, market observable data including market yield curve, duration, call 
provisions, observable prices and spreads for similar publicly traded or privately placed issues that incorporate the credit quality 
and industry sector of the issuer. For internal pricing of private placements and structured securities, valuation is based primarily 
on matrix pricing or other similar techniques using standard market inputs including spreads for actively traded securities, 
spreads off benchmark yields, expected prepayment speeds and volumes, current and forecasted loss severity, rating, weighted 
average coupon, weighted average maturity, average delinquency rates, geographic region, debt-service coverage ratios and 
issuance-specific information including, but not limited to: collateral type, payment terms of the underlying assets, payment 
priority within the tranche, structure of the security, transaction performance and vintage of loans.

When observable inputs are not available, the market standard valuation techniques for determining the estimated fair value of 
certain types of securities that trade infrequently, and therefore have little or no price transparency, rely on inputs that are 
significant to the estimated fair value that are not observable in the market or cannot be derived principally from or corroborated 
by observable market data, such as market illiquidity. Other significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement 
of the Company’s private debt investments include a multiple of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(“EBITDA”). These unobservable inputs can be based in large part on management judgment or estimation, and cannot be 
supported by reference to market activity. Even though unobservable, these inputs are based on assumptions deemed 
appropriate given the circumstances and are believed to be consistent with what other market participants would use when 
pricing such securities.

Equity Securities - Equity securities consist principally of preferred stock of privately traded companies. Non-binding broker 
quotes and internally developed evaluations for equity securities are generally based on significant unobservable inputs and are 
reflected as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments – Cash equivalents and short-term investments include money market 
instruments and other highly liquid debt instruments which are generally valued using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets 
that are accessible for identical assets and are primarily classified as Level 1. The fair value of certain other cash equivalents 
and short-term investments, such as bonds with original maturities twelve months or less, are based upon other market 
observable data and are typically classified as Level 2. Various time deposits, certificates of deposit and sweeps carried as cash 
equivalents or short-term investments are not measured at estimated fair value and therefore are excluded from the tables 
presented.

Derivative Assets and Derivative Liabilities – All of the derivative instruments utilized by the Company are classified within Level 
2 on the fair value hierarchy. These derivatives are principally valued using an income approach. Valuations of interest rate 
contracts are based on present value techniques, which utilize significant inputs that may include the swap yield curve, Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate basis curves, Overnight Index Swaps curves, and repurchase rates. Valuations of foreign currency 
contracts are based on present value techniques, which utilize significant inputs that may include the swap yield curve, currency 
spot rates, and cross currency basis curves. Valuations of credit contracts are based on present value techniques, which utilize 
significant inputs that may include the swap yield curve, credit curves, and recovery rates.

Quantitative Information Regarding Internally-Priced Assets

The following table presents quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value 
measurements that are developed internally by the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands):

 Estimated Fair Value Valuation 
Technique Unobservable Input

Weighted Average
2024 2023 2024 2023

Assets:

Corporate $ 15,262 $ 10,628 
Market comparable 
securities EBITDA Multiple 6.7x 6.0x

Changes in Level 3 Assets

Assets transferred into Level 3 are due to a lack of observable market transactions and price information. Transfers out of Level 
3 are primarily the result of the Company obtaining observable pricing information or a third party pricing quotation that 
appropriately reflects the fair value of those assets.

The reconciliations for all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are 
as follows (dollars in thousands):
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For the year ended December 31, 2024: Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale
Corporate Structured securities Equity securities

Fair value, beginning of period $ 275,650 $ 24,321 $ 1,871 
Total gains/losses (realized/unrealized)
Included in earnings, net:

Net investment income  624  —  — 
Investment related losses, net  2,746  —  (17) 

Included in OCI  (34,006)  249  — 
Purchases(1)  145,800  —  — 
Sales(1)  (13,417)  —  — 
Settlements(1)  (9,725)  —  — 
Transfers out of Level 3  —  (4,790)  — 

Fair value, end of period $ 367,672 $ 19,780 $ 1,854 
Total gains/losses (realized/unrealized) recorded for the period relating to those Level 3 assets that were still held at the end of the period
Included in earnings, net:

Net investment income $ 454 $ — $ — 
Investment related losses, net  3,349  —  (17) 

Included in OCI  (34,197)  249  — 

(1) The amount reported within purchases, sales and settlements is the purchase price (for purchases) and the sales/settlement proceeds (for 
sales and settlements) based upon the actual date purchased or sold/settled. Items purchased and sold/settled in the same period are 
excluded from the rollforward. The Company had no issuances during the period.

For the year ended December 31, 2023: Fixed maturity securities - available-for-sale
Corporate Structured securities Equity securities

Fair value, beginning of period $ 101,235 $ 15,774 $ 1,808 
Total gains/losses (realized/unrealized)
Included in earnings, net:

Net investment income  (70)  —  — 
Investment related losses, net  (11,671)  1  63 

Included in OCI  (13,652)  1,062  — 
Purchases(1)  202,849  —  — 
Sales(1)  —  (2,610)  — 
Settlements(1)  (3,041)  (1,927)  — 
Transfers into Level 3  —  14,399  — 
Transfers out of Level 3  —  (2,378)  — 

Fair value, end of period $ 275,650 $ 24,321 $ 1,871 
Total gains/losses (realized/unrealized) recorded for the period relating to those Level 3 assets that were still held at the end of the period
Included in earnings, net:

Net investment income $ (70) $ — $ — 
Investment related losses, net  (11,827)  —  63 

Included in OCI  (13,652)  1,062  — 

(1) The amount reported within purchases, sales and settlements is the purchase price (for purchases) and the sales/settlement proceeds (for 
sales and settlements) based upon the actual date purchased or sold/settled. Items purchased and sold/settled in the same period are 
excluded from the rollforward. The Company had no issuances during the period.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company did not have any assets measured at estimated fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the periods ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Carried at Other Than Fair Value

The following table presents the carrying values and estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments, which were 
not measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands). This table excludes 
any payables or receivables for collateral under repurchase agreements and other transactions. The estimated fair value of the 
excluded amount approximates carrying value as they equal the amount of cash collateral received/paid.
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December 31, 2024: Estimated Fair Value Measurement Using:
Carrying Value (1) Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Funds withheld at interest $ 34,618 $ 34,618 $ — $ — $ 34,618 
Cash and cash equivalents  197,652  197,652  197,652  —  — 
Short-term investments  35,376  35,376  35,376  —  — 
Accrued investment income  54,405  54,405  —  54,405  — 

Liabilities:
Interest-sensitive contract liabilities $ 267,791 $ 267,791 $ — $ — $ 267,791 
Funds withheld liabilities  3,281,750  3,281,750  —  —  3,281,750 

December 31, 2023:
Assets:

Funds withheld at interest $ 44,834 $ 44,834 $ — $ — $ 44,834 
Cash and cash equivalents  184,515  184,515  184,515  —  — 
Short-term investments  24,021  24,021  24,021  —  — 
Accrued investment income  20,404  20,404  —  20,404  — 

Liabilities:
Interest-sensitive contract liabilities $ 346,525 $ 346,525 $ — $ — $ 346,525 
Funds withheld liabilities  549,716  549,716  —  —  549,716 

(1) Carrying values presented herein may differ from those in the Company’s balance sheets because certain items within the respective 
financial statement captions may be measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Funds Withheld at Interest and Funds Withheld Liabilities - The carrying value of funds withheld at interest approximates fair 
value except where the funds withheld are specifically identified in the agreement. When funds withheld are specifically identified 
in the agreement, the fair value is based on the fair value of the underlying assets that are held by the ceding company. A variety 
of sources and pricing methodologies, which are not transparent to the Company and may include significant unobservable 
inputs, are used to value the securities that are held in distinct portfolios, therefore the valuation of these funds withheld assets 
and liabilities are considered Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments - The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments approximate fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments and are considered Level 1 in the fair 
value hierarchy.

Accrued Investment Income - The carrying value for accrued investment income approximates fair value as there are no 
adjustments made to the carrying value. This is considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Interest-Sensitive Contract Liabilities - The carrying and fair values of interest-sensitive contract liabilities reflected in the table 
above exclude contracts with significant mortality risk. The fair value of the Company's interest-sensitive contract liabilities 
utilizes a market standard technique with both capital market inputs and policyholder behavior assumptions, as well as cash 
values adjusted for recapture fees. The capital market inputs to the model, such as interest rates, are generally observable. 
Policyholder behavior assumptions are generally not observable and may require use of significant management judgment. The 
valuation of interest-sensitive contract liabilities is considered Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Note 10  INCOME TAX

Bermuda enacted the Corporate Income Tax Act of 2023 on December 27, 2023. The Bermuda income tax regime establishes a 
statutory tax rate of 15%, applicable to companies with annual revenue of EUR 750 million or more. The income tax regime is 
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2025. The Company maintains deferred taxes related to the Act.

Pursuant to an irrevocable election made in 2020 under the Malaysia Income Tax Act (“ITA”) of 1967, the Labuan branch is 
subject to tax on reinsurance income at 8% and non-reinsurance income at 24%. Total income tax expense for the year in the 
Labuan branch was $4.0 million. 

The Taiwan branch is subject to a 20% income tax rate in Taiwan. Total income tax expense for the year in the Taiwan branch 
was $2.5 million.

The Company’s earnings are not effectively connected to the U.S, therefore, there are no U.S. income taxes required in 2024 or 
2023.

Note 11 SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

The Company is registered under the Bermuda Insurance Act 1978 (the "Act") and amendments thereto and related regulations, 
which require that the Company maintain a minimum solvency margin. The minimum solvency margin required at December 31, 
2024 and 2023 is the greater of $8.0 million or 2% of the first $500 million of statutory assets of the Company plus 1.5% of 
statutory assets of the Company above $500 million. The Company is required to calculate an enhanced capital requirement 
("ECR") and target capital level ("TCL") as prescribed by or under rules made under Section 6A of the Act, which are additional 
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capital and surplus requirements to the minimum solvency margin. The Company's ECR is the higher of the Bermuda Solvency 
Capital Requirement model and the minimum margin of solvency. The TCL is calculated as 120% of the ECR. As of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has met the requirements. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, statutory capital 
and surplus of the Company was $446.8 million and  $539.5 million, respectively.

The Bermuda Monetary Authority considers prepaid and fixed assets non-admitted assets. As non-admitted assets, such 
balances were reflected as a reduction of statutory surplus.

In 2024 and 2023, the Company did not receive any capital contributions.

Note 12  RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company transacts business with affiliated companies on a regular basis. These transactions primarily consist of 
reinsurance agreements, notes with affiliates, administrative service agreements, investment management agreements, and the 
Company may purchase or sell securities with affiliated companies. The table below contains material related-party reinsurance 
transactions, other than those previously disclosed in Note - 6 "Reinsurance", as of  December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in 
thousands):

2024 2023
Balance Sheets
Future policy benefits $ 297,376 $ 318,757 
Funds withheld payable  3,281,750  549,716 

The Company regularly transacts business with affiliates under various service agreements and investment management 
agreements. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had receivables from affiliates of $2.5 million and $3.4 million, 
respectively, and payables to affiliates of  $13.8 million and $5.2 million, respectively, associated with these agreements. 

See Note - 7 "Investments" for information on security purchases and sales with affiliated companies.

Note 13 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Funding of Investments

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any commitments to fund investments. The Company had commitments to 
fund bank loans and private placement investments of $1.7 million as of December 31, 2023. 

Litigation

The Company is subject to litigation and regulatory investigations or actions from time to time. Based on current knowledge, 
management does not believe that loss contingencies arising from pending legal, regulatory and governmental matters will have 
a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company. However, in light of the 
inherent uncertainties involved in future or pending legal, regulatory and governmental matters, some of which are beyond the 
Company's control, and indeterminate or potentially substantial amount of damages sought in any such matters, an adverse 
outcome could be material to the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows for any particular reporting 
period. A legal reserve is established when the Company is notified of an arbitration demand, litigation or regulatory action, or is 
notified that an arbitration demand, litigation or regulatory action is imminent, it is probable that the Company will incur a loss as 
a result and the amount of the probable loss is reasonably capable of being estimated.

Note 14 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following table presents the components of the Company's OCI for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in 
thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 2024:
Before-Tax 

Amount

Tax
 (Expense)

Benefit
After-Tax 
Amount

Foreign currency translation adjustments, change arising during the year $ (9,343) $ 1,127 $ (8,216) 
Unrealized gains on investments: (1)

Unrealized net holding losses arising during the year  (298,269)  45,339  (252,930) 
Less: Reclassification adjustment for net losses realized in net loss  (104,905)  15,736  (89,169) 
Net unrealized losses  (193,364)  29,603  (163,761) 

Effect of updating discount rates on future policy benefits  154,541  (23,414)  131,127 
Other comprehensive loss $ (48,166) $ 7,316 $ (40,850) 
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For the year ended December 31, 2023:
Before-Tax 

Amount

Tax
 (Expense)

Benefit
After-Tax 
Amount

Foreign currency translation adjustments, change arising during the year $ 5,795 $ — $ 5,795 
Unrealized gains on investments: (1)

Unrealized net holding gains arising during the year  16,342  (2)  16,340 
Less: Reclassification adjustment for net losses realized in net loss  (54,547)  26  (54,521) 
Net unrealized gains  70,889  (28)  70,861 

Effect of updating discount rates on future policy benefits  97,810  (2,047)  95,763 
Other comprehensive income $ 174,494 $ (2,075) $ 172,419 

(1)  Includes cash flow hedges. See Note 8 - "Derivative Instruments" for additional information on cash flow hedges.

The balances of and changes in each component of AOCI for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows 
(dollars in thousands):

Accumulated
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Unrealized
Appreciation 

(Depreciation) 
of Investments(1)

Effect of 
Updating 

Discount Rates 
on Future 

Policy Benefits

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance, January 1, 2023 $ 6,194 $ (175,275) $ 73,057 $ (96,024) 
OCI before reclassifications  5,795  16,340  95,763  117,898 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI  —  54,521  —  54,521 

Balance, December 31, 2023  11,989  (104,414)  168,820  76,395 
OCI before reclassifications  (8,216)  (252,930)  131,127  (130,019) 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI  —  89,169  —  89,169 

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 3,773 $ (268,175) $ 299,947 $ 35,545 

(1)  Includes cash flow hedge of $(153.6) million and $(38.2) million as of December 31, 2024 and  2023, respectively. See Note 
8 - "Derivative Instruments" for additional information on cash flow hedges.

The following table presents the amounts of AOCI reclassifications for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in 
thousands):

Amount Reclassified from AOCI

Details about AOCI Components 2024 2023
Affected Line Item in Statements of 

Income
Net unrealized investment gains (losses):

Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities $ (55,752) $ (40,217) Investment related losses, net
Cash flow hedges - foreign currency  (49,153)  (14,330) Net investment income
Total  (104,905)  (54,547) 
Provision for income taxes  15,736  26 

Total reclassifications for the period $ (89,169) $ (54,521) 
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